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The Elmendorph Inn is sited on a one-half acre corner lot, immediately
adjacent to Route 9, a major north/south road. None of the original
outbuildings exist, but to the north of the inn is a small concrete block
building formerly used as a garage.

The building is located in a mixed residential commercial area. To
the north of the property is a supermarket and to the south (with a street in
between) is a gas station. Directly behind it to the east is a modest
nineteenth-century dwelling, and a succession of small homes of a later
date. To the west, across North Broadway (The Albany Post Road) are
more substantial homes, including two high-style Victorian mansions.

The inn is a two-story, frame structure with a modified gambrel roof.
It is covered with clapboards which are now sheathed with asphalt shingles.
A small porch is attached to the main entrance on the front elevation. A
lean-to addition was built off the rear of the building. The fireplaces
are serviced by four chimneys, still visible above the roof line.

The original structure, built ca. 1750, was enlarged and modernized,
probably in several stages, prior to 1830. Nineteenth-century partitions,
creating two apartments were removed about five years ago revealing an
interior little changed since the Federal period. An inspection of the
visible framing in the attic and cellar suggests that the original
structure was probably five bays with a central entrance hall. One twelve
over twelve window and a pair of crown moldings remain from this earliest
period. The fireplace in the center room (ground floor) appears to have
been lined with a layer of brick and a Federal style mantel installed.

The stone and timber hearth support beneath it in the cellar shows
evidence of deepening. An advertisement in the "New York Packet"

dated August 14, 1783, describes the building as having "... three
commodious rooms below stairs, a large entry through the house, a large
room above stairs with a large garret; the sald house has got three
fireplaces, a good kitchen...."

Oon the second floor, the space described now contains a large chamber
with bricked up fireplace, a large open "hall" and two small chambers
opening off a Federal period hall with pilasters and a vaulted ceiling.

Sometime after 1783, an addition was made to the south, increasing
the building's size by half. The two rooms, above and below, have
higher ceilings and a grander scale than the earlier portion. The
first floor Federal period mantel has handsomely carved wooden sunbursts.

The original building Wwas constructed with a gambrel roof. The
second story windows, on the front of the building, were housed in
dormers which are still on the interior. The attic framing suggests that
the roof was raised on the west facade at an early date, probably not
later than 1830. Late in the nineteenth century, the windows on the
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first floor, front (west) facade, were changed to two over two and a

new exterior door was cut to the south parlor. Late nineteenth-century
porches were added to each of the doors and in the 1940's, a third door
was cut into the center room and the porches were connected. More recently
solid paneled shutters, which appear in early twentieth—century photo-
graphs, were removed. Early in the twentieth century, a small shed ex-
tension was added to the rear kitchen wing and a small porch built on

to the rear of the south parlor. Because of scant written documentation
and the extent of the modifications made within the first seventy-five
years of the Elmendorph's existence, a careful, professionally con-
ducted architectural survey will be required to more accurately define
and date the development of the building.

The interiors of the Elmendorph Inn are finished with plaster walls
over hand split lath. The first floor rooms have chair rails and the
hallway has horizontal planking beneath the chair rails. Heavy oak
beams span the thirty foot depth of the building and two inch thick
planks, up to twenty-four inches wide form the original flooring. wWide
boards, one inch thick, have been laid perpendicular to this flooring
on portions of the first floor.

A plaster ceiling has been removed in all but the south parlor, re-
vealing grey stained floor boards above. The upper halves of the exposed
. beams are similarly stained; the lower halves are white washed. The orig-

s inal entrance door remains; raised and fielded panels on the outside,
flat on the inside, and mounted with large hand forged strap hinges with
circular nailing plates. A four light transom window surmounts the
door. The hallway is widened by a curved wall to accommodate the stair.
The staircase is encased in fielded paneling which conceals the door
to the cellar stair.

The north parlor has a relatively simple mantle and a curved wall
marking the back of the staircase. A door at the rear of the room leads
to the kitchen with a cooking fireplace with the opening for a bee hive
bake oven -- the back of which has been removed. The paneling and/or
mantle shelf has also been removed, The central parlor runs the depth
of the building and has a large Federal period mantle with carved sun-
burst and reeded panels. There are evidences that the fireplace was
linked with brick, suggesting that an.earlier, larger fireplace had at
one time existed there. “The door frames in this room feature crown
i moldings and the paneled doors hang on hand wrought ring and pintle
hinges. The south parlor is larger. than the rooms previously described
and its ceiling is considerably higher. The fireplace, which is centered
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on the south wall is very large with an elaborate, Federal period mantel
with triple sunburst and elegant moldings. A small staircase in the
back corner of the room leads to an upper chamber.

At the top of the main stalrcase is a large room. To the north 1is
a chamber with a fireplace which has been bricked up and its mantle
removed. Tha walls are plastered throughout the upstairs and on the
front or west side of the inn the windows are twelve over eight and set
into dormers. The original wide board plank floors remain throughout.
Leading from the central room is a short hall with pilasters at each
corner and a vaulted ceiling. It leads to two small chambers at the
front of the building, each with one dormer window. A short flight of
five steps leads up to the south chamber, a large room with paneled fire-
place and, on the front, three dormers, LWO of which contain twelve over
eight windows. A small staircase connects to the rooms below.

The interior doors in the Elmendorph are contemporary with the
house, being for the most part constructed with raised panels on one side,
flat on the other and hung from ring and pintle hinges. There are &
few examples of early H & L hinges. Dooors in the south room appear to
be later with butt hinges. There is a stone-walled cellar under the
center of the building with a massive footing under the center fireplace
which shows evidence of having been enlarged to accommodate a deeper
TR hearth. Stone steps lead to the exterior. Under the north and south
ain ends of the building are crawl spaces. There has never been central
heat in the building. Kerosene space heaters vented into the chimneys
were used until 1966 but no longer remain in the building. There 1is a
e gas-fired hot water heater in the cellar. Plumbing was added in the early
R twentieth century but is presently inoperative. Electrical service
'f exists only in the north end, but it needs replacing. The building is
20 presently unrestored. Late nineteenth-century partitions have been
‘ largely removed and with the exception of two twentieth-century kitchens
(one incorporated in the original kitchen, the other in part of the ground
floor, south room), and three sets of bathroom fixtures installed in
existing spaces, the interior of the house is much as 1t was ca. 1830.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The history of Red Hook and the Elmendorph Inn begins sometime before
1688, when Colonel Pieter Schuyler, first Mayor of Albany, acquired from the
Indians most of what we know as the town of Red Hook. Schuyler did not
live here himself and apparently there was little settlement or clearing
of the land. By 1725, Schuyler's tract had changed ownership and was
controlled jointly by Colonel Henry Beekman, Jr. (the son of the founder of
Rhinebeck), Barent van Benthuysen, Barent Staats, and Nicholas Hoffman.

The land was Jjust then beginning to be settled by Palatine German families
moving down from East Camp (Germantown) as they started to take leaseholds
and develop an agricultural economy.

At the time of the Revolution, there was a small settlement at Upper
Red 'Hook (then known as Red Hook), docks at Tivoli (Upper Red Hook Landing),
at Barrytown (Lower Red Hook Landing) and saw mills and grist mills on
the "Kills." The Albany Post Road was the only road of significance, sup-
plementing it were the roads to the mills and the river landings. The
"014 Red Church" in Tivoli was the only house of worship. Throughout the

_eighteenth century and the early nineteenth centuries, most of the land in

the town was still owned by heirs and assigns of the patent holders, and
was leased for long terms to farming families.

When the Rhinebeck Precinct of Dutchess County was established in 1737
for the purpose of defining political jurisdiction, Red Hook was included.
Red Hook became a separate township oin June 2, 1812. Until the end of the
eighteenth century, the neighborhood of the present village of Red Hook was
merely a crossroads, boasting little more than the tavern and couple of
houses. When the Postmaster in "Upper" Red Hook, General Bavid Van Ness,
moved to the Lower Village in the 1790's, and built the brick mansion
known as Maizefield (listed on the National Register), he brought with
him the post office name and the Lower Village has been called Red Hook ever
since. During the nineteenth century, the village grew rapidly in population
and commercial activity. The village itself was not incorporated until
1894, following a devasting fire on Prince Street. Because of the com-

paratively late date of the village's founding, there is little architecture
of the Colonial period. "
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The property in and around the village of Red Hook was leased for
several generations from Colonel Henry Beekman and his heirs. Therefore,
it has been difficult to establish a date of construction for eighteenth-
century dwellings in this locale. It is generally thought that the
building dates to about 1750 because of its construction, and it is in
the 1750's that we find the suarrounding properties, as well as the

Elmendorph land itself, leased from Colonel Henry Beekman. Various records
of " the period before 1800 indicate several owners and the house appears
to have been used as an inn. A map drawn in 1797 shows the property as

Elmendorph's Inn. By 1811, the property was known as Loop's Hotel.

On April L, 1815, the annual Town Board meeting is held at the inn
of Jacob Loop. This is the first of many Town Board meetings to be held
in the building. The earliest known town of Red Hook map, dated 1815,
shows Loop's Inn very clearly. The first deed found to the property is
for Jacob Loop which described the property as twelve and one-half acres.
This description cantinued until 1933 when the property was subdivided.
Jacob Loop died at the age of 33 in 1819. Town records indicate that
in 1820 George Ring was proprietor at the inn and town meetings con-
tinued to be held there. Ring operated a store there in 1825. George
Ring must have been an unlucky storekeeper, for in 1825 the Sheriff sold
the goods and property of George Ring at public sale to Philip Bonesteel,
a prominent merchant and postmaster, who sold them that same day to
Peter DeReimer. The property changed hands again in 1827 to Jacobus
Fckert but Town Board meetings continued there until 1842, In 1835,
Jacobus Eckert sold to David Wager who appears to have lived at the
house for guite awhile before he took title to it. The Independent
Horse Thieves Bociety of the Lower Village was formed at David Wager's
house on November 15, 182T. In 1828, David Wager was the pathmaster
on the east road starting from his house. In 1845, Wager gave land on
the east end of the property to the Methodist Episcopal Society expressly
for a cemetery. Wager died in 1854, but before his death, he sold the
property to Augustus Martin (State Assemblyman and Town Supervisor).

The Martin family owned the property to the north, including a stone
house built in 1776. The Martins probably converted the house into a
two family dwelling, for not only were we told this by the family who
worked for the Martins, but two local writers indicate that some

changes were made during the Martin periocd. Edmund Bassett began his
"Reminiscences of Red Hook" (1926), at-the age of about sixty-one. He
He wrote that "the old Inn, on the corner of Broadway and Cherry Streets
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has been changed to dwelling apartments. In the early days of the State
Coach Line, this was one of the inns and a regular stop to change horses.
A barn stood north of the inn and was used by Philip Van Steenburgh, the
teamster. He was known as "old Daddy" not in derision but in affection,
for he was a kindly old soul." Burton Barker Coon, at age fifty-five
(1924) wrote, "about the year 1890, Miss Susie Fulton taught a kindergarten
class that was supported by Edward Martin in the large double house at

the upper end of North Broadway." Edward Martin, who owned the building
from 1886 until his estate was sold in 1933, was a philanthropist

who established a kindergarten in the bulilding in the last decade of the
nineteenth century. During the first fifty years of this century, the inn
was used as a residence. In 1966, the property was sold and remained
vacant until purchased by the Friends of Elmendorph, Inc., a local group
with plans to carefully restore the building.

The old Elmendorph Inn is significant in the region as a rare
surviving eighteenth-century residence and tavern. It is the oldest
building in the village of Red Hook and the only gambrel roofed structure
in the village to have survived. The inn has been an integral part of
Red Hook's development, having served as the meeting place for town
government for more than twenty-five years. Although unrestored, its
early lines and proximity to the old Albany Park Road reveal 1ts age to
the trained eye.
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